

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA

Northwest Airlines Incorporated, a
Minnesota Corporation,

Civil File No. 04-CV-03889 (PAM/RLE)

Plaintiff,

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT

v.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Sabre, Inc.; Sabre Holdings
Corporation; and Sabre Travel
International Ltd., d/b/a Sabre Travel
Network,

Defendants.

1. For its Complaint against Sabre, Inc., Sabre Holdings Corporation, and Sabre Travel International Ltd., d/b/a Sabre Travel Network (collectively, "Sabre"), Northwest Airlines, Inc. ("Northwest") states and alleges as follows:

INTRODUCTION

2. Northwest brings this suit under the federal antitrust laws to obtain relief from Sabre's abuse of its monopoly power in the provision of computerized reservation services to the many travel agents who subscribe to Sabre's system. Like most major airlines, Northwest has no choice but to pay Sabre so that information about its flights and fares will be accessible to those travel agents, enabling them to issue tickets on Northwest flights. Because of its monopoly power, Sabre has charged Northwest and other airline participants in the Sabre system exorbitant fees every time a travel agent uses its system to book a flight, and those fees have increased the cost of airline travel, to

TP APX
Exhibit 1

APP. 009

the detriment of consumers. Recently, Northwest announced policies designed to reduce Sabre's stranglehold on the industry and bring a measure of relief from the financial burden Sabre has imposed on airlines and consumers. In response, Sabre used its monopoly power to bludgeon Northwest, manipulating the information it provides to travel agents in ways plainly calculated to reduce sales of Northwest tickets in order to force Northwest to withdraw the new policies. In doing so, Sabre also sent a very strong public message to the rest of the airline industry designed to deter other carriers from matching Northwest's policies or pursuing similar initiatives. Sabre's strategy succeeded, and Northwest was forced to retreat. Unless the Court acts to enforce the antitrust laws, Sabre will not hesitate to react similarly to future initiatives designed to introduce competition into the distribution of travel services, and both Northwest and consumers will continue to pay the price. Northwest also brings this action to redress Sabre's breach of the parties' contractual agreements and for its violation of the Lanham Act and of Minnesota law through deceptive trade practices and defamation.

PARTIES

3. Northwest is the world's fifth largest airline, offering domestic and international travel by providing approximately 1,500 daily departures. Northwest is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Minnesota, with its principal place of business located at 2700 Lone Oak Parkway, Eagan, Minnesota.

4. Defendant Sabre, Inc., is a Delaware Corporation with its principal place of business located at 3150 Sabre Drive, Southlake, Texas. Sabre, Inc. owns and operates the Sabre GDS used by travel agencies and others for the sale and distribution of air

transportation services and information.

5. Defendant Sabre Holdings Corporation ("Sabre Holdings") is a Delaware Corporation with its principal place of business located at 3150 Sabre Drive, Southlake, Texas. Defendants Sabre, Inc., and Sabre Travel International Ltd. are subsidiaries of Sabre Holdings Corporation. Sabre Holdings directed and/or participated in the actions of these subsidiaries described in this complaint and is jointly and severally liable for their conduct.

6. Defendant Sabre Travel International Ltd. ("Sabre Travel") is an Irish corporation, with its principal place of business located at 3150 Sabre Drive, Southlake, Texas. Sabre, Inc. and Sabre Holdings have used Sabre Travel simply as a corporate vehicle for holding contracts with airline participants in the Sabre GDS, including Northwest. Sabre Travel neither owns nor operates the Sabre GDS, and Sabre, Inc. in reality performs the services that Sabre Travel is obligated to perform under those contracts.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

7. This Court has jurisdiction over all claims asserted against defendants pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a) because complete diversity exists between Northwest and the defendants and the amount in controversy exceeds \$75,000.00. In addition, the Court has jurisdiction over Northwest's antitrust and Lanham Act claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

8. Venue is proper in this District under Section 12 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. § 22, and under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c). For venue purposes, defendants

reside and transact business in this District and a substantial portion of the events giving rise to the claims occurred in this District.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

9. For decades, major airlines in the United States, including Northwest, have relied heavily on travel agents to provide consumers with information about airline services and to sell their tickets. In turn, individual travel agents have overwhelmingly relied on one of four major computerized reservation systems provided by third-party vendors, now called global distribution systems ("GDSs"), to obtain flight and fare information, make bookings, and issue tickets to their customers.¹ However, travel agents do not pay GDSs for the use of those services. Instead, every time a travel agent books a flight using a GDS, the GDS charges participating airlines a booking fee – which airlines must pay if they want their flights and fares displayed over the GDS to the travel agent – and then uses a portion of that booking fee revenue to pay travel agents for using the system. With each passing year, GDS booking fees have become an increasingly large part of airline operating expense. In 2003 alone, Northwest paid approximately \$180,000,000 in booking fees to GDSs.

10. As of 1985, bookings by travel agents accounted for approximately 60% of all airline revenues, and about 90% of those sales were made by travel agents using a GDS. By 1989, travel agents accounted for about 75% of airline ticket revenues, and over 95% of agents relied on a GDS.

¹ Until recently, GDSs were known as Computer Reservation Systems ("CRSs"). In this complaint, Northwest follows the current nomenclature.

11. In the years since 1989, airlines have begun to change the ways in which they distribute their services, particularly by using the Internet as a means by which customers may book their flights directly with carriers, bypassing GDSs (travel agents also have access to airline web-sites which allow direct booking with airlines) and allowing airlines to avoid GDS booking fees. Nevertheless, major airlines have continued, by necessity, to rely substantially on travel agency sales booked through GDSs for a substantial portion of their ticket sales. Sabre has estimated that as of 2003, 70% of all airline revenue continued to be generated through sales by "brick and mortar" travel agencies. Moreover, online travel agencies (which also use GDSs, and in some cases are owned by them) account for an additional 13% of airline revenues. In recent years, approximately 65% of Northwest's revenue has been generated by "brick and mortar" travel agencies, and another 10-15% has been generated by online agencies that use GDSs.

12. An even larger percentage of business passengers continues to use travel agencies despite the availability of Internet sales channels. The National Business Travel Association recently reported that less than 10% of corporate travel is booked through the Internet and that many corporations forbid their employees to book travel on the Internet, even if the employees find a lower fare through that channel. Among travel agencies that manage high-yielding corporate travel accounts, Sabre is the dominant GDS. As is true for most network carriers, Northwest's business travelers account for a disproportionately high share of Northwest's total passenger revenue.

13. In short, travel agents continue to be a critical distribution outlet for major

airline sales of air passenger service. Travel agents, in turn, continue to rely almost exclusively on GDSs, resulting in steadily increasing booking fee expenses for major airlines, despite the fact that almost all travel agencies now have Internet access.

14. Significantly, most travel agents rely primarily on only one GDS, rather than subscribing to multiple systems. In 2003, the American Society of Travel Agents reported, based on a survey of its membership, that 94% of travel agents use only one GDS system.

15. The vast majority of travel agencies use only one GDS because it is costly and inefficient for travel agent locations to use multiple GDSs. Multiple GDS usage currently requires agencies to incur additional time, effort, and expense in searching more than a single GDS, as well as additional training costs, and requires them to implement duplicative accounting, billing, and recordkeeping systems necessary for tracking multiple GDS transactions.

16. Travel agents cannot readily switch from one GDS to another. There are currently four major GDSs that, in theory, are available to travel agents: Sabre, Galileo, Worldspan, and Amadeus. The reality is that switching among them is rare. Standard GDS contracts require multi-year commitments from travel agents. Even if travel agents could readily switch GDS systems at the end of their multi-year contract terms, however, there are significant practical, economic, and contractual impediments to a travel agent's ability to readily and rapidly switch systems during the contract term. Those impediments help maintain each GDS system's monopoly power over airlines. As a practical matter, each GDS, including Sabre, controls access by major airlines to a

discrete, but critical, group of travel agents whose distribution services remain essential to every major airline's competitive and financial viability.

17. A variety of factors account for the monopoly power that GDSs exert over major airlines.

18. First, nearly half of travel agencies have contracts with GDS systems with durations of five years. Most of the remainder have contracts of at least three years duration. As a deterrent to switching prior to the expiration of the contract term, GDS contracts with travel agents typically include liquidated damage clauses that attach an onerous financial penalty to termination of the agent's contract before the expiration of its term. Even without these contractual penalties, travel agents would incur significant operational costs in switching GDS systems midstream. Moreover, GDSs have perpetuated substantial inefficiencies and cost-based impediments to any travel agency location subscribing to more than a single GDS. As a result, nearly every travel agent is irrevocably tied to a single GDS for a multi-year period.

19. Further, although most travel agents now have the ability to access airline web sites tailored for their use to book flights, the GDSs, including Sabre, have imposed substantial penalties and disincentives on travel agents' use of alternative, and less costly, airline booking alternatives. Most GDSs – including Sabre – pay travel agents to use their services, rather than the other way around. Those payments are tied to productivity commitments by travel agencies, *i.e.*, commitments to use the GDS service for a specified volume of bookings, coupled with financial penalties or disincentives if those commitments are not reached. Thus, any booking a travel agent makes through a GDS

alternative is one less booking through a GDS that counts toward the travel agent's eligibility for productivity payments. Therefore, while travel agents have the technical ability to by-pass GDS systems when making airline bookings, there are significant financial disincentives to doing so. Travel agents have behaved consistently with the financial disincentives imposed by the GDS systems.

20. In theory, an airline could exert countervailing leverage against GDSs, like defendants, by withholding its participation in a particular GDS since, over time, the GDS's service would become less valuable to consumers and thus to travel agents. However, any such action would impose an immediate, and unacceptably harsh, penalty on the airline in reduced bookings by travel agent subscribers to the GDS, while imposing only a future, and uncertain, cost to the GDS, which is protected from immediate harm by long term contracts with travel agents. As the Department of Transportation recently found:

"An airline's greatest leverage for obtaining lower fees or better terms for participation will be a threat to withdraw from the system. If an airline withdraws, however, it will immediately begin losing bookings from that system It is true that an airline's withdrawal from a system will make that system less attractive to travel agencies, and over time the system will lose subscribers. Because the average travel agency contract has a term of three years, however, only a relatively small portion of the system's subscribers will have the ability to switch to another system in the short term. Thus the airline's revenue losses from withdrawal will be substantial and begin occurring immediately, while the system's losses in subscribers will be gradual and occur over a period of some months. In these circumstances, the system [GDS] should have the upper hand in bargaining."

21. Despite the growth of the Internet as a means by which passengers (and travel agents) can book their travel directly with airlines, each GDS – including Sabre -

continues to enjoy monopoly power over major airlines such as Northwest. Travel agents continue to be the dominant channel for distribution of air transportation services, and travel agents continue to rely almost entirely on a single GDS. Therefore, from the standpoint of airlines, different GDSs are not substitutes for each other.

22. In sum, in order to reach essential groups of travel agents, major airlines are compelled to deal with the GDS that serves those agents. They must have their flights and fares displayed in all four of the major GDSs; to ignore any one of them would be to sacrifice sales by the group of travel agents who exclusively use that GDS. And because of the importance of marginal revenues in the airline business, that is a sacrifice that neither Northwest, nor any other major airline, can afford to make.

23. As a consequence, each GDS – including Sabre – constitutes a separate market for air carriers, and each is a monopolist with market power over carriers that want to sell airline tickets through its travel agency subscribers. As the United States Department of Justice has concluded:

“Each CRS provides access to a large, discrete group of travel agents, and unless a carrier is willing to forego access to those travel agents, it must participate in every CRS. Thus, from an airline’s perspective, each CRS constitutes a separate market and each system possesses market power over any carrier that wants travel agents subscribing to that CRS to sell its airline tickets.”

24. Sabre has taken a variety of steps to enhance and protect its monopoly position, including insisting on long-term contracts with travel agents and building contractual incentives and disincentives to make it difficult for travel agents to leave, or to use multiple GDSs.

25. The major GDSs have exercised their monopoly power in a variety of ways. The practical and legal impediments to travel agents' ability to switch from one GDS to another or to use more than one system give GDSs, including Sabre, the ability to charge booking fees greatly in excess of levels that a competitive market would produce, with little or no need to compete for airline participants.

26. In Northwest's case, GDS booking fees have increased steadily over the last decade, even though the Internet has offered a low-cost alternative to GDS systems. Northwest now pays an average booking fee of approximately \$12.50 per domestic ticket issued through a GDS. GDS booking fees constitute a significant component of Northwest's costs, totaling approximately \$180,000,000 in 2003. Sabre's own charges to Northwest per net flight segment booked increased from 1994 through 2003 by almost 62%. Significantly, the dramatic increase in booking fees over the last decade has occurred at a time when other analogous electronic and data input expenses have declined or remained flat, as one would expect. This is consistent with recent Department of Transportation findings that "the systems' [GDS] fees exceed competitive levels for the reasons set forth in the notice of proposed rulemaking.... We have not seen evidence that the systems' fees generally respond to market forces"

27. The excessive booking fees charged by GDSs have clearly harmed consumers of airline transportation. Each year, major airlines incur hundreds of millions of dollars in monopolistically inflated booking fees, and to varying degrees, those costs have been passed on to consumers in the form of higher ticket prices.

28. The current market structure reinforces the ability of GDSs to impose

excessive costs on the traveling public through supracompetitive booking fees. GDS purchasing decisions are made by travel agencies, but the responsibility for payment for GDS service falls on the major airlines, which have no choice but to participate in every GDS. Indeed, the airlines must pay fees to GDSs even when a passenger does not use the ticket and a refund is issued. On the other hand, travel agencies typically pay nothing to use a GDS. To the contrary, they are paid by GDSs to use their systems. As the Department of Transportation has found, “[t]ravel agencies often obtain CRS services at no cost or receive bonus payments in exchange for agreeing to use a system.... [I]n 2002 fewer than half of all travel agencies paid monthly fees for system services and ... 60 percent of them received a signing bonus of some kind from the system they were using.”

29. GDSs similarly feel no pressure to reduce booking fees since they do not compete for the patronage of those who pay them – the airlines – given that major airlines have no practical choice but to list their flights and fares in all of the four principal GDSs. Rather, GDSs have the opposite incentive, since they use booking fees to cement their relationships with travel agents by paying them for use of the GDS service.

30. This disconnection between the purchase decision and payment responsibility creates perversely misaligned incentives. Travel agents have no incentive to shop for the GDS with the lowest booking fees since they do not pay them. Indeed, because incentive payments that GDSs make to travel agencies are funded by booking fees, travel agencies actually have an incentive to choose a GDS with the highest booking fees. This harms consumers because supracompetitive booking fees increase the cost of air transportation. Consumers will therefore benefit from actions designed to increase

competition and reduce GDS fees.

31. For these reasons, the Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice has in the past stated its view that GDS systems should be prevented from charging booking fees to airlines, causing GDSs to charge travel agents for providing flight information and booking services, thus realigning incentives so that the parties paying for GDS services, unlike the airlines, are those in a position to choose among GDS suppliers ("zero booking fee concept"). Such a structure would introduce competition among GDSs on booking fee levels and ultimately drive booking fees down to competitive levels, to the benefit of airlines and their customers.

32. The market power of GDSs over airlines has been threatened by advances in Internet distribution of air passenger service. All of the major airlines, and most of the others, offer fares and booking services over their own web sites. And several airlines offer travel agents access to such fares to book travel for their customers through a dedicated web site. Northwest, for example, provides a dedicated web site, called WorldAgent Direct, that travel agents may use to obtain flight and fare information and to book travel on Northwest and its code share partners. Other major airlines have developed similar Internet sites. In addition, Orbitz offers a service by which travel agents may make bookings for their customers using non-GDS technology.

33. As the Department of Transportation has found, however, despite the "development of sources of airline information and booking capabilities on the Internet [that] has created additional resources that travel agents can use [travel agents] continue to make most of their bookings through a [GDS] system ... [because] using

alternative booking channels is less efficient for travel agents.”

34. Moreover, even though customers have the ability to search for and book travel through “online” agencies, all of the major online travel agencies use a GDS for all or most of their bookings. For example, Travelocity (itself a subsidiary of defendant Sabre Holdings) uses the Sabre GDS, while Orbitz, Expedia, and Priceline all use the Worldspan GDS. Like Travelocity, other major online travel agencies, such as OneTravel.com and CheapTickets.com, are owned by or under common ownership with GDSs. Thus, even when a passenger uses one of these online agencies to book travel on Northwest, Northwest must still pay the GDS a booking fee, just as it would if the booking had been made through a “brick and mortar” travel agency.

35. Each GDS’s market power over airlines such as Northwest will persist as long as travel agents continue to be locked into use of a GDS for airline bookings. Each of the alternatives to GDS distribution of information and booking capability to travel agents is in its infancy, and none has succeeded, or likely will succeed in the foreseeable future, in materially undermining GDS market power.

36. Consistent with, though more modest than, the Justice Department’s “zero booking fee” concept discussed above, Northwest publicly announced a new policy on August 24, 2004, intended to reduce the burden of GDS monopoly fees on itself and its passengers by providing incentives for travel agents to use non-GDS alternatives in booking Northwest flights. Under that policy, which became effective on September 1, 2004, Northwest announced that it would bill back travel agents who booked Northwest flights through a GDS a “Shared GDS Fee” of \$3.75 per one-way tickets and \$7.50 per

roundtrip tickets. Northwest made clear that no such charge would be assessed for travel agent bookings made through booking services such as Northwest's WorldAgent Direct site or other third-party technologies that by-pass GDSs. Even under the new policy, Northwest would continue to absorb approximately \$5.00 of the average GDS fee per round trip ticket.

37. Sabre saw Northwest's initiative as a serious threat to its monopoly power over airlines, particularly if other airlines followed suit with similar strategies of their own. It reacted swiftly and brutally. First, on the day of Northwest's announcement, Sabre publicly announced that it would bias the display of flight information in the Sabre GDS by giving the flights of other airlines more prominent visibility than Northwest's flights, even when Northwest's flights would better meet a customer's needs.

38. Second, Sabre announced that it would cut off Northwest's access to certain system data and tools enjoyed by other airline participants in the Sabre GDS.

39. Third, Sabre announced that it would withhold from Northwest a portion of certain discounts otherwise payable under Sabre's full content discount program.

40. Sabre made clear in its announcement that it would follow the same coercive course of action against any other airline participant in the Sabre direct-connect program that charged a fee for tickets issued through Sabre.

41. As it had threatened, Sabre immediately began biasing the display of flight information over the Sabre GDS in ways that disadvantaged Northwest and immediately cut off Northwest's access to system data and tools. For example, Northwest is the only airline to offer non-stop service between Minneapolis and Rapid City, South Dakota. On

the flight display, Sabre placed the non-stop Northwest flight at the end of the third display screen, behind fourteen connecting flights on other carriers. Between Minneapolis and Winnipeg, where Northwest again is the only airline to offer non-stop service, Sabre placed the non-stop Northwest flight at the end of the third display screen, behind sixteen connecting flights on other carriers. Sabre also introduced bias on all Northwest available international flights in markets where Northwest was not the only non-stop provider between two given markets. For example, between Los Angeles and Tokyo, Sabre placed Northwest's flight on the third display screen, behind fifteen flights on other carriers.

42. Display bias is a powerful tool that GDSs can use to disadvantage disfavored airlines. For example, a 1981 study by Sabre found that more than half of all Sabre sales came from the first line on the computer screen display, and almost 92% came from the first screen of displayed information. By placing Northwest flights at the end of the display list (well beyond the first screen of information), Sabre was attempting to ensure that few, if any, of its travel agent subscribers would book flights on Northwest.

43. Display bias has been condemned in harsh terms by the federal courts. In *In re Air Passenger Computer Reservations Systems Antitrust Litigation*, 694 F. Supp. 1443 (C.D. Cal. 1988), the court declared:

"Display biasing is unreasonably restrictive of competition in that it restricts competition on the merits in the air transportation business. When consumers attempt to purchase a ticket on the best available flight their final decision is not solely based upon the merits of the particular flight (flight time, price, service, etc.). Rather, biasing artificially inflates the value of the host airline's flights by listing their flights above better flights. The consumer bears the brunt of this practice by getting a less than optimal flight, and the airline with the better flight

has lost a sale it should have otherwise made. This type of competitive advantage depends upon the perpetration of a fraud upon the consumer. It is unreasonable and therefore an unwarranted competitive advantage because it inhibits competition on the merits.”

44. Display bias is not only a practice that works a fraud on consumers, it is a practice that Sabre Travel International Ltd. itself agreed not to use. On July 1, 2003, Northwest and Sabre Travel International Ltd. entered into an amendment to an agreement entitled Sabre Participating Carrier Distribution and Services Agreement (“Agreement”). As amended, the Agreement provided that Sabre would not introduce any “bias” based on carrier identity into its flight display – a promise that Sabre broke on August 24.

45. When Northwest did not withdraw its Shared GDS Fee initiative in the face of Sabre’s GDS screen display bias, Sabre escalated its assault, announcing on August 26 that, effective September 1, 2004, it would begin adding the Northwest “Shared GDS Fees” into the displayed price of Northwest’s fares in the shopping and pricing displays of the Sabre GDS. In other words, although those fees were charges that Northwest intended to assess against *travel agents* who booked through a GDS, Sabre decided to treat them as an across-the-board *fare* increase to Northwest’s *passengers*. The consequence of this plan, which Sabre put into effect on September 1, was to bias Northwest’s fares in comparison to the fares of its competitors, so that when travel agents searched for the lowest fares, Northwest’s appeared to be either \$3.75 or \$7.50 higher than they really were.

46. Put simply, Sabre lied about Northwest’s fares, in a manner calculated to

place Northwest at an even more serious competitive disadvantage. To Sabre, the fact that its travel agent subscribers might not have to pay the Shared GDS Fee at all (if they used a non-GDS technology for booking) or might not attempt to pass all of the fees on to their customers, was immaterial. It chose to treat the fee as an actual fare increase, precisely for the purpose of creating bias against Northwest's service throughout the Sabre GDS. Sabre falsely and fraudulently represented Northwest's fares to travel agents and to the public.

47. Sabre knew that Northwest's Shared GDS Fee was not a fare increase, and knew that it would not necessarily be incurred by its subscribers or passed on to consumers even if incurred. Indeed, Sabre manipulated its system so that if a travel agent actually succeeded in booking a Northwest ticket despite the roadblocks Sabre set up, the actual issued ticket would not include the fictitious fare increase.

48. Sabre did not stop with biasing its systems against Northwest flights and fares. On August 31, Sabre notified Northwest that if it did not withdraw the Shared GDS Fee initiative by midnight, Sabre would begin closing out Northwest's inventory of high-value seats on Northwest's international flights, as displayed in the Sabre GDS. When Northwest did not comply, Sabre followed through on its threat beginning on September 1, 2004. It began manipulating the data in its GDS in order to close out the availability of high-yielding business and first class travel on all of Northwest's international flights displayed in the Sabre GDS. When travel agents searched Sabre for flight information on international routes served by Northwest, the Sabre GDS showed that Northwest's business and first class cabins were full – despite the fact that ample

seats were available. Once again, Sabre simply lied to its travel agent subscribers and, through them, to the public, all in a blatant effort to pressure Northwest into abandoning its "Shared GDS Fee policy." In fact, the Shared GDS Fee policy did not even apply to international bookings. Sabre's actions were simply a bald-faced attempt to economically coerce Northwest into dropping that policy.

49. Sabre has engaged in other retaliatory and punitive actions against Northwest beyond those described in detail above, including turning off journey logic controls and refusing to pay Northwest discounts to which it was entitled under Sabre's full-content discount program.

50. In implementing its retaliatory campaign against Northwest, Sabre intended to do more than merely punish and coerce Northwest. It also sent a message to other airlines that Sabre will not tolerate actions designed to erode its monopoly power, and that any efforts by airlines to introduce more competition into the relevant market, and to wean travel agents from their single GDS dependency, will be met with a swift and harsh response. It intended to stop other carriers from matching Northwest's announcement, and thereby kill off Northwest's new policy in its infancy. Through these and other actions, Sabre succeeded, as no other airline matched Northwest's Shared GDS Fee initiative.

51. There is no doubt that the true purpose behind Sabre's actions beginning August 24 was to protect its ability to charge and recover supracompetitive booking fees and to restrain competition among GDSs and with alternative forms of distribution. It also painted a very clear picture to the entire industry about what the consequences would

be of any future efforts by carriers to liberate themselves from the burden of monopolistic booking.

52. On September 2, 2004, at 5:00 p.m., Northwest announced that it was rescinding its "Shared GDS Fee." Having accomplished its objective of bringing about Northwest's withdrawal of its initiative and deterring other airlines from matching it, Sabre advised Northwest that it was going to restore its display of Northwest's flight and fare information to the status they enjoyed prior to announcement of the Shared GDS Fee policy, *i.e.*, an unbiased display. However, Sabre continues to withhold discount payments to which Northwest was entitled for the time period during which the Shared GDS Fee policy was in effect.

53. As a result of defendants' anticompetitive conduct, absent relief from this Court, Northwest and other airlines will be forced to continue paying monopoly prices for access to GDSs, and GDSs will continue to block price competition among themselves as well as competition from on-line alternatives to GDS services provided to travel agents. And consumers will continue to foot much of the bill in the form of higher air fares.

54. Northwest has been damaged by Sabre's conduct in numerous ways, including the following: Sabre's conduct effectively prevented Northwest from successfully implementing the Shared GDS Fee policy. That policy would have enabled Northwest to reduce its booking fee charges, not only from Sabre but also from other GDSs, as travel agents moved toward non-GDS alternatives for booking Northwest flights. In addition, with respect to travel agents who continued to use GDSs, the policy would have enabled Northwest to defray at least some part of the resulting booking fees

through collection of the Shared GDS Fee from those agents. With each passing day, these elements of damages grow larger. In addition, Sabre's conduct has enabled it and the other GDSs to maintain their per segment booking fees at monopolistic levels, and Northwest is entitled to recover the resulting overcharges. Further, Sabre's manipulation of information displayed over the Sabre GDS has cost Northwest sales that it otherwise would have made through Sabre-automated travel agents. Northwest is entitled to recover these damages from Sabre, and all other losses caused by Sabre's conduct.

MARKET DEFINITION

55. The conduct described above constitutes a violation of the federal antitrust laws, specifically, Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §2.

56. For purposes of antitrust analysis in this case, the relevant product market consists of the provision of computerized air passenger transportation flight and fare information and booking capability (hereafter referred to as "GDS services") to travel agent subscribers of the Sabre GDS. In that market, Sabre is a seller of the relevant service and Northwest is a buyer. Northwest pays for that service primarily in the booking fees that it pays to Sabre. In this market, the services provided by other GDSs are not substitutes. Sabre provides the only practical access to Sabre-automated travel agents, since the vast majority of such travel agents only use the Sabre GDS. Because they are not effective substitutes, other GDSs do not constrain the pricing power of Sabre in setting the booking fees that airlines such as Northwest must pay. The geographic scope of this market is national.

57. In the product market described above, Northwest is a competitor of Sabre,

as well as a customer. That is because Sabre provides services not only to airlines such as Northwest (providing them a vehicle for displaying their information to travel agents and permitting flight bookings), but also to its travel agency subscribers (who use the system to access that information and to make bookings). From the standpoint of travel agents, Northwest provides an alternative to the Sabre GDS. Through Northwest's own dedicated web site for travel agents, Sabre subscribers can access Northwest flight and fare information and book travel for their customers on Northwest flights. In that sense, Northwest is a competitor of Sabre.

BARRIERS TO ENTRY

58. The relevant market defined above is characterized by durable barriers to entry that protect Sabre's monopoly power. No new GDS has appeared on the scene in more than a decade; to the contrary, fewer GDSs are now available to travel agents than were available 10 years ago. More importantly, several economic barriers prevent travel agents from using more than a single GDS and prevent them from rapidly and efficiently switching GDS providers prior to the termination of multi-year contract terms. The GDSs have also erected powerful economic barriers to competition from on-line alternatives to the services GDSs provide to travel agents. In short, to obtain access to Sabre-automated agents, Northwest must, and for the foreseeable future will need to, participate in the Sabre GDS system, and pay Sabre's monopolistic booking fees.

59. Although some travel agents have indeed switched among GDSs over the years, the rate of switching has not been significant. Moreover, switching GDSs at the end of a contract term does nothing to alleviate the monopoly power of any GDS. As

long as a GDS retains a significant base of travel agent subscribers, airlines such as Northwest have no practical choice but to continue participating in that GDS's system and to continue paying the GDS's monopolistic booking fee charges. Any travel agents who switch simply become the clients of some other GDS, merely transferring some of the monopoly power of one GDS to another.

60. For reasons discussed above, at all times relevant to this complaint, and for the foreseeable future, non-GDS alternatives are not likely to induce travel agents to switch from a GDS to a non-GDS vehicle for accessing information and booking travel. Only the practical ability to switch immediately from one GDS to another, to use more than a single GDS, or to efficiently substitute on-line alternative services – none of which is possible in the current industry structure – might ultimately undermine the monopoly power of the defendant GDSs.

MONOPOLY POWER

61. For the reasons previously explained, Sabre possesses monopoly power in the market for provision of GDS services to Sabre travel agency subscribers. Sabre's share of that market approaches 100%.

ANTICOMPETITIVE CONDUCT

62. Sabre has engaged in a scheme to maintain its monopoly power through anticompetitive and exclusionary conduct. Northwest's August 24 initiative was a procompetitive policy, consistent with the Antitrust Division of the Justice Department's recommendations, designed to provide travel agents with incentives to create price competition among GDSs and to make use of non-GDS alternatives for booking travel –

whether on Northwest's own dedicated web site or through some other non-GDS mechanism. By retaliating against Northwest in the manner described in this complaint, and by publicly sending the message to all other participating carriers that they could expect to be punished in the same way, Sabre has engaged in anticompetitive and exclusionary conduct without any lawful business justification.

63. The success of Sabre's actions in fact depended on their tendency to discipline and undermine Northwest. By biasing the display of Northwest information, Sabre in fact de-valued the service it provides to its travel agent subscribers. Those subscribers could no longer rely on the accuracy of flight and fare displays in the Sabre GDS and had to engage in extra time-consuming effort to search out the best flights for their customers. Similarly, when Sabre artificially closed out the availability of high-value seats on Northwest's international flights – an action that had no conceivable connection to Northwest's Shared GDS Fee, which did not even apply to international bookings – Sabre deprived its travel agent subscribers of the opportunity to sell tickets that they might otherwise have sold, thus depriving them of commission revenues (and itself of booking fees). Absent an anticompetitive motive, a company in Sabre's position would have no legitimate reason to sacrifice short term profits and to undermine the value of its own service in these ways. The fact that it did so is itself a clear indicator of the degree of Sabre's monopoly power, and a sign of the hold it maintains over its subscriber base.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

64. Northwest incorporates paragraphs 1 through 63 of this complaint by

reference.

65. Sabre has engaged in monopoly maintenance in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act. Sabre has willfully and wrongfully maintained and abused its monopoly power in the relevant market through the anticompetitive and exclusionary conduct described herein. Sabre's conduct has harmed competition and consumers, and it has directly and proximately caused injury to Northwest's business and property. Northwest's injury is of the type the antitrust laws are intended to prohibit and thus constitutes antitrust injury.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

66. Northwest incorporates paragraphs 1 through 63 of this complaint by reference.

67. Sabre's conduct described above breached the Sabre Participating Carrier Distribution and Services Agreement between Northwest and Sabre Travel International, Ltd., as amended (the "Agreement").

68. Northwest has fully performed its obligations under the Agreement and has satisfied all conditions precedents to enforcement of the Agreement.

69. Sabre's breach of contract has caused damage to Northwest in an amount in excess of \$75,000.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

70. Northwest incorporates paragraphs 1 through 63 of this complaint by reference.

71. Northwest possessed prospective contractual relations with air travel customers who, but for Sabre's conduct, would have purchased tickets for air travel on Northwest flights.

72. Sabre's conduct described above interfered with the air travel customers' prospective contractual relations with Northwest, by inducing or otherwise causing air travel customers not to enter into contractual relations with Northwest for air travel, and/or by preventing Northwest from acquiring or continuing the prospective contractual relations.

73. Sabre's conduct described above was intentional and improper, and employed wrongful means in order to cause the interference.

74. Sabre's conduct described above creates and continues an unlawful restraint of trade, and/or has as its purpose eliminating competition.

75. Sabre's interference with Northwest's prospective contractual relations has caused damage to Northwest in an amount in excess of \$75,000.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

76. Northwest incorporates paragraphs 1 through 63 of this complaint by reference.

77. Sabre's conduct described above was undertaken in the course of Sabre's business.

78. Sabre's conduct described above constitutes a deceptive trade practice within the meaning of Minn. Stat. § 325D.44 in that, without limitation, Sabre disparaged the services and business of Northwest by false or misleading representations of fact.

79. Sabre's conduct described above has caused damage to Northwest in an amount in excess of \$75,000, including without limitation costs of investigation and reasonable attorney's fees.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

80. Northwest incorporates paragraphs 1 through 63 of this complaint by reference.

81. Sabre's conduct described above constituted the use of fraud, false pretense, misrepresentation, misleading statements and/or deceptive practices within the meaning of Minn. Stat. § 325F.69.

82. Sabre's conduct described above was undertaken with the intent that Sabre's subscribers and air travel customers rely upon such conduct and information in connection with the sale of merchandise -- to wit, airline travel. Upon information and belief, Sabre's conduct had the intended effect, in that Sabre's subscribers and air travel customers relied upon the false information provided by Sabre to their and Northwest's detriment.

83. Sabre's conduct described above constitutes a violation of Minn. Stat. § 325F.69.

84. Sabre's conduct described above has caused damage to Northwest in an amount in excess of \$75,000, including without limitation costs of investigation and reasonable attorney's fees.

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION

85. Northwest incorporates paragraphs 1 through 63 of this complaint by reference.

86. Sabre's conduct described above constituted false advertising and/or promotion within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).

87. Sabre's conduct described above was undertaken in the course of Sabre's business in a manner affecting interstate commerce. By using its Global Distribution System to reach all Sabre GDS subscribing travel agents, Sabre undertook an organized campaign to make misrepresentations and false representations and descriptions of fact regarding Northwest and its products and services. Through its GDS, Sabre misrepresented the availability of international First and Business class seats on Northwest flights, misrepresented the fare for Northwest's flights by adding a \$3.75 or \$7.50 surcharge to its GDS display, and misrepresented the nature and availability of Northwest flights that would best suit a consumer's travel needs by biasing Northwest flights as described herein.

88. Sabre's false and misleading representations were made willfully and intentionally.

89. Sabre's conduct described above constitutes a violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).

90. Sabre's conduct described above has caused damage and is likely to cause damage to Northwest in an amount in excess of \$75,000, which Northwest is entitled to recover, together with enhanced damages and attorneys fees under the Lanham Act.

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION

91. Northwest incorporates paragraphs 1 through 63 of this complaint by reference.

92. In its August 24, 2004 press release, Sabre accused Northwest of breaching the Agreement with Sabre by imposing new and hidden fares on all domestic tickets issued through travel agencies using a GDS. Sabre's claim of breach is false.

93. Northwest is entitled to a declaratory judgment that by the acts and omissions alleged herein, Sabre breached the Agreement and that Northwest has not breached the Agreement.

JURY DEMAND

94. Northwest demands a trial by jury of all issues triable of right by a jury.

RELIEF REQUESTED

95. Northwest requests that the Court declare that the conduct of Sabre specified in this complaint violates Section 2 of the Sherman Act, the Lanham Act, and the Minnesota statutes pursuant to which Northwest has brought its claims.

96. Northwest further requests that the Court issue a permanent injunction forbidding Sabre from threatening or implementing the biasing of any airline's flight or fare information, and from engaging in any other punitive or retaliatory conduct against Northwest.

97. Northwest further requests that the Court issue such other permanent injunctive relief, as the Court deems appropriate, designed to create market conditions

capable of dissipating Sabre's unlawfully maintained monopoly power.

98. Northwest requests that, pursuant to its antitrust causes of action, the Court award it damages against Sabre in an amount to be proven at trial, trebled as permitted under the antitrust laws, as well as interest on the award at the highest lawful rate, together with Northwest's attorneys fees and costs.

99. Northwest further requests that the Court award it damages against Sabre pursuant to its additional causes of action, in an amount not less than \$75,000.00, together with enhanced damages where permitted by law and amounts for Northwest's costs of investigation, reasonable attorneys fees, and costs of suit, and all other such amounts and relief as the Court finds equitable and just.

100. Northwest further requests that the Court declare that Sabre has breached the Agreement and that Northwest has not breached it.

101. Northwest also requests such other relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

September 27, 2004

DORSEY & WHITNEY LLP

By s/Thomas Tinkham
Thomas Tinkham #0110176
Theresa M. Bevilacqua #031500X
Suite 1500, 50 South Sixth Street
Minneapolis, MN 55402-1498
Telephone: (612) 340-2600

Parker C. Folse, III
SUSMAN GODFREY LLP
Suite 3100
1201 Third Avenue
Seattle, WA 98101
Telephone: (206) 516-3860

James P. Denvir
BOIES, SCHILLER & FLEXNER LLP
Suite 800
5301 Wisconsin Ave. NW
Washington, D.C. 20015
Telephone: (202) 895-7560

Attorneys for Plaintiff Northwest Airlines
Incorporated, a Minnesota Corporation

**IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA**

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on September 27, 2004, I caused the following documents:

- **First Amended Complaint**

to be filed electronically with the Clerk of Court through ECF, and that ECF will send an e-notice of the electronic filing to the following:

- **Craig S Coleman**
ccoleman@faegre.com kdraves@faegre.com
- **Richard A Duncan**
rduncan@faegre.com lhonse@faegre.com;rcox@faegre.com
- **Thomas B Mayhew**
tmayhew@fbm.com
- **Brian Boru O'Neill**
boneill@faegre.com lhonse@faegre.com;slahr@faegre.com
- **Frank J Riebli**
friebli@fbm.com
- **Roderick M Thompson**
rthompson@fbm.com

I further certify that I caused a copy of the foregoing documents and the notice of electronic filing to be mailed by first class mail, postage paid, to the following non-ECF participants:

None

Dated: September 27, 2004

s/Renee P. Christensen
Renee P. Christensen

APP. 039

PREFERRED FARES AMENDMENT

This Preferred Fares Amendment, dated as of July 05, 2006 (the "Amendment"), is made by and between American Airlines, Inc., a Delaware company ("American"), and Galileo International, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, and Galileo Nederland, B.V., a company organized under the laws of the Netherlands (collectively, with Galileo International, L.L.C., "Galileo").

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Amendment to be executed by its duly authorized representative as of the Agreement Date.

GALILEO INTERNATIONAL BY:

Galileo International, L.L.C.

Signed: _____

Name: Kurt J. Eket

Title: SVP Supplier Services

Galileo Nederland, B.V.

Signed: _____

Name: M. van Deperen

Title: Director

AMERICAN AERIALS, INC. BY:

Signed: _____

Name: David Cusk

Title: SVP Global Sales



Analysis

As of: May 24, 2011

RX.COM, Plaintiff - Appellant v. MEDCO HEALTH SOLUTIONS, INC.;
CAREMARK RX INC.; EXPRESS SCRIPTS, INC., Defendants - Appellees

No. 08-40388

UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE FIFTH CIRCUIT

322 Fed. Appx. 394; 2009 U.S. App. LEXIS 8469

April 22, 2009, Filed

NOTICE: PLEASE REFER TO FEDERAL RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE RULE 32.1 GOVERNING THE CITATION TO UNPUBLISHED OPINIONS.

SUBSEQUENT HISTORY: US Supreme Court certiorari denied by Rx, 2009 U.S. LEXIS 7774 (U.S., Nov. 2, 2009)

PRIOR HISTORY: [1]**

Appeal from the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. USDC No. 5:04-CV-227.

COUNSEL: For RX.COM, Plaintiff - Appellant: Patrick Lamont Hughes, Alene Ross Levy, Lynne Liberato, Haynes & Boone, Houston, TX; William Shawn Staples, The O'Quinn Law Firm, Houston, TX.

For MEDCO HEALTH SOLUTIONS INC, Defendant - Appellee: Robert K. Stanley, Ryan Michael Hurley, Baker & Daniels, Indianapolis, IN; John David Crisp, Crips, Boyd, Poff & Burgess, Texarkana, TX.

For CAREMARK RX INC, Defendant - Appellee: Michael Sennett, Paula W. Render, Jones Day, Chicago,

IL.

For EXPRESS SCRIPTS INC, Defendant - Appellee: Joseph Franklin Wayland, Jayma Marie Meyer, Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, New York, NY.

JUDGES: Before GARWOOD, OWEN, and HAYNES, Circuit Judges.

OPINION BY: HAYNES

OPINION

[*395] HAYNES, Circuit Judge: *

* Pursuant to 5TH CIR. R. 47.5, the court has determined that this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except under the limited circumstances set forth in 5TH CIR. R. 47.5.4.

Plaintiff Rx.com brought this lawsuit alleging that the pharmacy benefit managers, [*396] Caremark RX, Inc. ("Caremark"), Medco Health Solutions, Inc. ("Medco"), and Express Scripts, Inc. ("Express Scripts") (collectively "Defendants") [**2] suppressed

competition by "refusal to deal" and "denying them access to their networks unless upside was shared, and otherwise acting in concert with one another" to frustrate competition. Rx.com asserted claims for: (1) agreement in restraint of trade in violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act; (2) conspiracy to monopolize in violation of section 2 of the Sherman Act; and (3) attempted monopolization in violation of section 2 of the Sherman Act. The district court granted summary judgment to Defendants. Because we find that the statute of limitations bars these claims, we AFFIRM.

I. Background

Defendants are pharmacy benefit managers ("PBMs"), which are third party administrators of prescription drug programs for health insurance plans, employers, unions, governmental entities, and others. From December 1998 to June 1999, Defendants discussed among themselves the threat to their business of internet pharmacies. There is some evidence that Defendants collectively decided to exclude all internet pharmacies from access to their networks to prevent the internet pharmacies from competing with Defendants' direct mail businesses.

Rx.com applied for admission into each of the Defendants' networks. [**3] Those requests were denied as follows: (1) by Caremark, on February 14, 2000; (2) by Medco, first on October 26, 1999 and then on February 15, 2000; and (3) by Express Scripts in February of 2000. This lawsuit was filed on October 8, 2004. Thus, unless some ground exists for tolling the statute of limitation or beginning accrual of the causes of action later than February 2000, these claims are time-barred. 15 U.S.C. § 15b (2006). Rx.com contends that limitations does not bar its claims for the following reasons: (1) the claims did not accrue until some time after October 2000, when the injury was discoverable; (2) Defendants committed "continuing violations" through 2001; (3) Defendants' fraudulent concealment tolls limitations; and (4) the limitations period should be equitably tolled for the period of time when Rx.com lacked officers and directors.

II. Standard of Review

This court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, applying the same standard as the district court. *TIG Ins. Co. v. Aon Re, Inc.*, 521 F.3d 351, 354 (5th Cir. 2008). Summary judgment is appropriate "if

the pleadings, the discovery and disclosure materials on file, and any affidavits show that [**4] there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." FED. R. CIV. P. 56(c).

III. Discussion

A. Accrual

The United States Code provides that "[a]ny action to enforce any cause of action under section 15, 15a, or 15c of this title shall be forever barred unless commenced within four years after the cause of action accrued." 15 U.S.C. § 15b. "Generally, a cause of action accrues and the statute begins to run when a defendant commits an act that injures a plaintiff's business." *Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine Research, Inc.*, 401 U.S. 321, 338, 91 S. Ct. 795, 28 L. Ed. 2d 77 (1971). "[I]f a plaintiff feels the adverse impact of an antitrust conspiracy on a particular date, a cause of action immediately accrues to him to recover all damages incurred by that date . . ." *Id.* at 339.

The district court held that Rx.com's antitrust claims accrued in February 2000, [**397] by which time its internet pharmacy had been refused admission by each Defendant. Rx.com insists, however, that its claims did not accrue until it became aware of circumstances which, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, would lead to the discovery of facts that would allow it to file suit; Defendants [**5] argue that the limitations clock began to run when Rx.com had knowledge of its injury.

The United States Supreme Court answered this question in *Rotella v. Wood*, 528 U.S. 549, 555, 120 S. Ct. 1075, 145 L. Ed. 2d 1047 (2000), stating, "in applying a discovery accrual rule, we have been at pains to explain that discovery of the injury, not discovery of the other elements of a claim, is what starts the clock." Applying *Rotella* to the present case, the injury of which Rx.com complains is exclusion from the market by Defendants, a fact known to it in February 2000 when its application to enter into the Defendants' networks had been denied. On February 29, 2000, Rx.com complained in writing to the FTC that "2/3 of the requests from our prospective customers have to be turned away because certain PBM's refuse to allow Rx.com into their networks." Joseph Rosson, co-founder and CEO of Rx.com, testified in an unrelated case that he always believed that what the Defendants were doing was illegal. Even though Rx.com may not have known all the details of the Defendants'

concerted conduct, it knew it was injured, suspected illegality, and had sufficient knowledge to complain to the FTC. Under *Rotella*, then, the clock began to run in [**6] February of 2000.

B. Continuing Violations

Rx.com asserts that even if some of its claims accrued in February of 2000, Defendants' continuing violations of the antitrust laws tolled limitations. Defendants assert that there was no continuing violation, and that in any event, they only reiterated their final decisions to exclude Rx.com from their networks.

Under the continuing conspiracy theory, "each time a plaintiff is injured by an act of the defendants a cause of action accrues to him to recover the damages caused by that act and . . . the statute of limitations runs from the commission of the act." *Zenith*, 401 U.S. at 338; see also *Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Sales, Inc. v. Avondale Shipyards, Inc.*, 677 F.2d 1045, 1051 (5th Cir. 1982); *Poster Exch. v. Nat'l Screen Serv. Corp.*, 517 F.2d 117, 125 (5th Cir. 1975). Rx.com failed to offer evidence of "a specific act or word of refusal during the limitations period." *Poster Exch.*, 517 F.2d at 129. In other words, Rx.com failed to offer evidence that Defendants reiterated their refusals to admit Rx.com to their networks during the limitations period. Thus, Rx.com failed to raise a fact issue on its "continuing violations" claim sufficient to [**7] defeat the limitations defense.

C. Fraudulent Concealment

Rx.com contends that Defendants fraudulently concealed its causes of action. In order to avoid summary judgment, Rx.com was required to raise a fact issue as to two elements: "first, that the defendants concealed the conduct complained of, and second, that the plaintiff failed, despite the exercise of due diligence on his part, to discover the facts that form the basis of his claim." *Texas v. Allan Constr. Co.*, 851 F.2d 1526, 1528 (5th Cir. 1988) (internal quotation and citation omitted). To satisfy the first element, the defendants must have engaged in "affirmative acts of concealment." *Id.* at 1531. In the present case, Rx.com argues that the secret communications between the Defendants while they each claimed they were making unilateral decisions and publicly stated they [*398] were horizontal competitors constitute fraudulent concealment.

However, "[c]oncealment by defendant only by

silence is not enough. [The defendant] must be guilty of some trick or contrivance tending to exclude suspicion and prevent inquiry." *Allan Constr.*, 851 F.2d at 1532 (quoting *Crummer Co. v. Du Pont*, 255 F.2d 425, 432 (5th Cir. 1958) (alteration in original)). [**8] Similarly, "denial of wrongdoing is no more an act of concealment than is silence" unless "the parties are in a fiduciary relationship, or where the circumstances indicate that it was reasonable for the plaintiff to rely on defendant's denial." *Id.* at 1532-33. Here, there is no such affirmative act of concealment on the part of the Defendants.

D. Equitable Tolling

The issue of equitable tolling is subject to differing standards of review depending on the basis of the district court's decision. If the district court denied equitable tolling as a matter of law, this court's review is de novo. *FDIC v. Dawson*, 4 F.3d 1303, 1308 (5th Cir. 1993). Alternatively, a denial that stems from the district court's weighing of the equities is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Teemac v. Henderson*, 298 F.3d 452, 456 (5th Cir. 2002) (reviewing district court's refusal to toll Title VII limitations period on motion to dismiss for abuse of discretion); *United States v. Patterson*, 211 F.3d 927, 931 (5th Cir. 2000) (reviewing district court's refusal to toll Anti-Terrorism and Effective Death Penalty Act limitations period on motion to dismiss for abuse of discretion); *Fisher v. Johnson*, 174 F.3d 710, 713 (5th Cir. 1999) [**9] (explaining that district court's discretionary refusal to toll limitations should be reviewed for abuse of discretion, even where made on the pleadings). "A district court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on an erroneous legal conclusion or on a clearly erroneous finding of fact." *James v. Cain*, 56 F.3d 662, 665 (5th Cir. 1995) (citing *McGary v. Scott*, 27 F.3d 181, 183 (5th Cir. 1994)).

In the case before us, the district court exercised discretion in not equitably tolling Rx.com's claims. The district court stated in its order: "[T]he Court finds that Plaintiff should be charged with the duty to pursue its claims. Since a derivative cause of action was always available to Mr. Rosson or other shareholders, the Court concludes that this does not constitute the 'rare and exceptional circumstances' that would equitably toll the statute of limitations."

We have stated that "[t]he doctrine of equitable tolling preserves a plaintiff's claims when strict application of the statute of limitations would be

inequitable." *Patterson*, 211 F.3d at 930 (quoting *Davis v. Johnson*, 158 F.3d 806, 810 (5th Cir. 1998)). "Equitable tolling applies principally where the plaintiff is actively [**10] misled by the defendant about the cause of action or is prevented in some extraordinary way from asserting his rights." *Id.* at 930-31 (quoting *Coleman v. Johnson*, 184 F.3d 398, 402 (5th Cir. 1999)).

All of the officers and directors of Rx.com resigned in May 2001, and Rx.com did not regain officers and directors until April 2004. Rx.com asserts that the resignation of its officers and directors was an exceptional circumstance warranting equitable tolling, but fails to cite any authority on point. Rather, Rx.com relies on cases discussing the adverse domination rule, which tolls limitations when the board is controlled by those culpably involved in the wrongful conduct on which the action is based. *See FDIC v. Henderson*, 61 F.3d 421, 425-26 (5th Cir. 1995). In this case, by contrast, there was no obstacle preventing a shareholder from protecting Rx.com's rights. Rosson, former CEO and co-founder of Rx.com, or any other shareholder, could have called a special meeting [**399] to appoint a new board of directors after the resignations of May 2001. *See DEL. CODE ANN. tit. 8, § 223(a)* (2002) (providing that when a corporation does not have any directors because of death, resignation, or any other [**11] cause, any shareholder may call a special meeting for the purposes of electing new directors). Alternatively, Rosson or another shareholder could have brought a derivative suit on Rx.com's behalf. *See Elf Atochem N. Am., Inc. v. Jaffari*, 727 A.2d 286, 293-94 (Del. 1999).¹

In fact, Rosson, who by early 2000 already thought Defendants were acting unlawfully in denying Rx.com access to their networks, did bring a shareholder's derivative lawsuit claim alleging a third party caused Rx.com's demise. Accordingly, we find that the district court did not abuse its discretion when it refused to equitably toll the statute of limitations.

1 Rx.com also contends that, during a period of time, it was under a court-appointed receivership. Rx.com suggests that the pendency of the receivership is another reason supporting equitable tolling. It argues that the court order appointing the receiver did not specifically authorize the bringing of this type of litigation. However, the receiver in question was specifically appointed "pursuant to the applicable provisions of the . . . Texas Civil Practice and Remedies Code." The "applicable provision" allows a receiver to pursue litigation without court approval. [**12] TEX. CIV. PRAC. & REM. CODE § 64.033 (Vernon 2008). Also, Rx.com has not brought forth any facts suggesting that, even if court approval to pursue litigation were required, the receiver could not have sought and obtained such approval.

IV. Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM the summary judgment of the district court.